A.  SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Bryan Sass walked into a bank and waited patiently in line.  

When he was called up to the teller, he quietly asked for money.  He 

did not display a weapon, make a threatening gesture, or utter any 

threats.  He said “I’m here to rob you,” and then left the teller station 

without incident and without any money or property.  On his way out 

of the bank, Mr. Sass also spoke with the assistant manager in a quiet 

voice, telling him the teller wanted a debit card and that he was 

confused.  During this conversation, Mr. Sass never displayed a 

weapon, never made a threatening gesture, and never uttered any 

threats.  He had a debit card in his pocket, but he never showed it to the 

teller. 

Mr. Sass’s conviction for attempted first degree robbery should 

be reversed because (1) he never used force or violence and did not 

threaten any immediate injury and (2) the trial court denied a requested 

instruction on the lesser-included offense of attempted theft.   
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B.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Insufficient evidence supports the conviction for attempted

robbery in the first degree in violation of Mr. Sass’s due process rights. 

2. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Sass’s request to instruct

the jury on the lesser-included offense of first-degree theft. 

3. The trial court erred in finding federal bank robbery

comparable to Washington’s crime of robbery, resulting in a 

miscalculation of Mr. Sass’s offender score. 

C.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. To prove attempted first degree robbery in Washington, the

State must show beyond a reasonable doubt the use or threatened use of 

immediate force, violence, or fear of injury.  Did the State fail to prove 

this element where Bryan Sass patiently waited in line for a bank teller, 

casually approached the teller upon his turn, quietly asked for bills in a 

particular order, meekly told the teller he was there to “rob” her, made 

no gestures, kept his hands visible on the counter, and then calmly left 

the bank when the teller walked away without giving him any money? 

2. If a defendant asks the court to instruct the jury on a lesser

included offense and the evidence supports conviction only on the 

lesser offense, the failure to give the instruction violates due process.  
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Here the trial court applied the incorrect test, found that theft is not a 

lesser included offense of robbery, and did not instruct the jury as Mr. 

Sass requested.  Did the court’s denial of Mr. Sass’s request for a lesser 

included offense instruction deny him due process where theft is a 

lesser included offense of robbery and the evidence suggested only a 

theft occurred here?   

3. When calculating an offender score at sentencing, prior

federal convictions are classified according to the Washington offense 

to which they are comparable.  The trial court found Mr. Sass’s prior 

federal bank robbery convictions comparable to first degree robbery in 

Washington, but at least two Washington elements are narrower than 

the federal offense and the factual record for the federal offense does 

not show the narrower Washington elements were satisfied.  Did the 

trial court err by counting two federal convictions as comparable to first 

degree robbery, adding four points to Mr. Sass’s offender score? 
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D.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Unarmed and without menacing words or
conduct, Bryan Sass asked for money at a bank
without proof of an account.

On a warm August day, Bryan Sass entered a Chase bank 

branch in downtown Everett.  3/23/15 RP 19-21.1

Ms. Ayouni thought he was a customer who needed to make a 

withdrawal, so she asked for a debit card and identification to start 

  Mr. Sass waited 

patiently in line for several minutes.  3/23/15 RP 22, 32-33, 42, 50, 56; 

Exhibit 4, clip 2 at 00:00-02:30.  Teller Djamila Ayouni was working at 

the drive-through window when Mr. Sass entered the bank.  3/23/15 RP 

22. When Ms. Ayouni was done at the drive-through, she started

assisting the interior line of customers, calling forward Mr. Sass.  

3/23/15 RP 22-23, 42.  He walked up to Ms. Ayouni’s station and stood 

there casually, in a manner indistinguishable from the customers next to 

him.  3/23/15 RP 23; Exhibit 4, clip 2 at 02:30-02:48.  In a soft voice, 

Mr. Sass said, “I need hundreds, fifties, and twenties in this order.”  

3/23/15 RP 23, 40-41.   

1 The verbatim report of proceedings is transcribed in several 
separately-paginated volumes, which are referred to herein by the date 
of the first hearing transcribed in the volume (e.g., “12/18/14 RP”).  
The March 23, 2015 Jury Voir Dire Proceedings are referred to as 
“3/23/15 VD RP.” 
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filling out a withdrawal slip.  3/23/15 RP 23, 42.  Mr. Sass responded, 

“No, ma’am, I came to rob you.”  3/23/15 RP 24.  When Ms. Ayouni 

said, “Excuse me?” Mr. Sass repeated the same words.  3/23/15 RP 24.  

During this entire exchange, Mr. Sass’s hands were visible on the 

counter; he did not make any threats; he did not make any attempts to 

move towards Ms. Ayouni; he did not make any attempts to grab her; 

and she did not see any weapons on him.  3/23/15 RP 45; Exhibit 4, 

clip 4 at 02:27-02:49. 

At that point, Ms. Ayouni thought Mr. Sass wanted to take 

money from her.  3/23/15 RP 24.  Her cash drawer was at the drive-

through window, so she told Mr. Sass she would be right back, went 

around the corner to the drive through window, and pressed a silent 

security button.  3/23/15 RP 25.  She had been trained to sound the 

alarm whenever she suspected “anything.”  3/23/15 RP 42-43, 54.  

Seconds after Ms. Ayouni left, Mr. Sass walked away from the counter 

unhurriedly.  Exhibit 4, clip 2 at 02:43-02:53. 

The assistant bank manager, Brent Flagg, first observed Mr. 

Sass in line; he then saw Mr. Sass walk away from the counter looking 

“a little confused” after Ms. Ayouni went around the corner.  3/23/15 

RP 25, 48-51.  Mr. Flagg asked Mr. Sass if he needed any assistance.  
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3/23/15 RP 51; Exhibit 4, clip 2 at 02:52-03:12.  In a quiet voice, Mr. 

Sass told Mr. Flagg, “she needed a debit.”  3/23/15 RP 52, 57.  Mr. 

Flagg asked what Mr. Sass meant, Mr. Sass repeated, “she needed a 

debit.”  3/23/15 RP 52-53.  Mr. Flagg told Mr. Sass, “I’m confused” 

and Mr. Sass said “so was he;” and Mr. Sass exited the bank.  3/23/15 

RP 52-53; see Exhibit 4, clip 2 at 02:52-03:12.  Mr. Flagg did not see a 

weapon on Mr. Sass or anything in his hands.  3/23/15 RP 58.  Mr. Sass 

did not shout, carry a note, or make any threats.  3/23/15 RP 57.  Mr. 

Flagg simply felt “nervous” based on Mr. Sass’s appearance.  3/23/15 

RP 58. 

Mr. Sass was wearing a surgical mask and light gloves.  3/23/15 

RP 21, 44, 46, 50.  Although the hood of his sweatshirt was up, it did 

not mask his appearance—a large tattoo on his neck was clearly visible. 

3/23/15 RP 21, 28, 44, 46; see Exhibits 8 & 9.   

Someone in the branch called the police and Mr. Sass was 

quickly arrested, identified by his distinctive clothing and large neck 

tattoo.  3/23/15 RP 27-28, 54-55, 58, 61; Exhibits 8 & 9.  Mr. Sass did 

not have any weapons on him, but he did have a Chase Bank debit card.  

3/23/15 RP 70, 77.  He told police he went into the bank to inquire 

about getting a debit card, and that he wore a surgical mask because he 
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had MRSA (methicillin resistant staphylococcus aureus).  3/23/15 RP 

72-75.  This diagnosis was confirmed at trial.  3/24/15 RP 9, 12-13. 

2. The State charged Mr. Sass with first degree
robbery.

Although Mr. Sass had no weapons, used no force or violence, 

and uttered no threat of the immediate use of force or violence, the 

State charged Mr. Sass with attempted first degree robbery.  CP 309-

10, 350-51.  At trial, he requested an instruction on the lesser-included 

offense, attempted theft, which does not require the use of immediate 

force, violence or fear of injury; the trial court denied the request.  CP 

274, 280-82, 286, 301-02; 3/24/15 RP 3-8.  During deliberations, the 

jury asked the court for an “additional explanation” of the “‘use of 

immediate force, violence or fear of injury’” element of attempted first 

degree robbery.  CP 262, 272.  On agreement of the parties, the court 

instructed the jury to refer back to its instructions.  CP 272; 3/24/15 RP 

35. 

Mr. Sass was convicted of attempted first degree robbery (RCW 

9A.28.020; RCW 9A.56.200), from which he appeals.  CP 2-14, 119-

29; 252.  At his sentencing hearing, the State argued two prior federal 

bank robbery convictions under 18 U.S.C. § 2113(a) were comparable 

to Washington’s first degree robbery offense for purposes of 
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calculating Mr. Sass’s offender score.  CP 138; 5/18/15 RP 2-3, 6.  Mr. 

Sass objected because the federal statute is broader and the facts pled 

and proved in the federal convictions do not show that the convictions 

fit the narrower Washington offense.  CP 130-34; 5/18/15 RP 3-5.  The 

sentencing court found the prior offenses comparable.  CP 120-21; 

5/18/15 RP 7-8.  The court imposed only “mandatory” legal financial 

obligations.  CP 121, 124.   

E.  ARGUMENT 

1. Where Mr. Sass merely asked for money and
quietly stated he was there to rob the teller
without any physical or verbal indication he was
armed or intended harm, the evidence of violence,
fear of injury or a threat of immediate violence is
insufficient to sustain the conviction.

Mr. Sass can only be convicted of attempted first degree robbery 

if the State proves every element of the crime beyond a reasonable 

doubt.  Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 300-01, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 

159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 

120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 

358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970).  

On a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court 

must reverse a conviction when, after viewing the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the prosecution, no rational trier of fact could have 
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found all the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable 

doubt.  Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. 

Ed. 2d 560 (1979); State v. Drum, 168 Wn.2d 23, 34-35, 225 P.3d 237 

(2010). 

a. To prove robbery in the first degree, the State must show
violence, fear of injury, or immediate threat beyond a
reasonable doubt.

“A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully takes 

personal property from the person of another or in his or her presence 

against his or her will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, 

violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her property or the 

person or property of anyone.”  RCW 9A.56.190 (emphasis added).  

“Robbery encompasses any ‘taking of . . . property [that is] attended 

with such circumstances of terror, or such threatening by menace, word 

or gesture as in common experience is likely to create an apprehension 

of danger and induce a man to part with property for the safety of his 

person.’”  State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, 191 P.3d 99 (2008) 

(alterations in original) (quoting State v. Redmond, 122 Wash. 392, 

393, 210 P. 772 (1922)).  This element distinguishes robbery from 

theft.  Compare RCW 9A.56.190 with RCW 9A.56.020; RCW 

9A.56.030(1)(b).  Because the State charged Mr. Sass with attempted 
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robbery in the first degree, it had to show he had the specific intent to 

commit first degree robbery.  RCW 9A.28.020(1); see State v. Johnson, 

173 Wn.2d 895, 901, 270 P.3d 591 (2012). 

b. Mr. Sass’s actions and words, calmly waiting in line for a
teller and quietly requesting funds, did not amount to
violence, fear of injury, or a threat of immediate harm.

Absent the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence or 

fear of injury, a robbery conviction cannot stand.  State v. Farnsworth, 

184 Wn. App. 305, 348 P.3d 759 (2014), review granted 183 Wn.2d 

1001 (2015) (oral arg. heard Oct. 22, 2015).  In Farnsworth, the 

evidence was insufficient where McFarland, wearing a wig and 

sunglasses, simply handed over a note instructing the teller to “put the 

money in the bag.”  Id. at 307, 312.  “McFarland did not insinuate that 

he would take further action if the teller did not comply with the note's 

instructions.”  Id. at 312.  There were no threats or use of violence.  Id.  

There was no evidence that McFarland was armed or that anyone 

believed him to be armed.  Id.  The bank tellers complied with 

McFarland’s demand note and McFarland even said “Thank you” after 

receiving the money.  Id.  This Court held the evidence insufficient to 

support a conviction for robbery.  Id. at 314.   
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On the other hand, this Court has upheld convictions where 

there is an actual showing of the threatened use of immediate force, 

fear or injury.  In Shcherenkov, the evidence of an immediate threat 

was sufficient where the defendant had his hand in his pocket causing 

tellers to believe he had a gun while saying “This is a robbery.”  

Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. at 624-25.  In State v. Collinsworth, the 

nervous-appearing defendant used a direct, demanding and serious 

voice, and the tellers testified they felt personally threatened or feared 

for the immediate safety of others.  90 Wn. App 546, 548-50, 966 P.2d 

905 (1997).  The unchallenged findings included that the tellers were 

fearful of immediate injury.  Id. at 554.  Most of the tellers also 

believed the defendant was armed.  Id. at 549-50.2

2 To determine the sufficiency of the evidence of threatened use 
of immediate force under Washington law, the Collinsworth court 
looked to federal decisions interpreting the federal bank robbery 
statute.  90 Wn. App. at 552.  However, as set forth in Section Three 
below, the offenses are defined differently under Washington and 
federal law on this very element.  Accordingly, in light of the facts of 
this case, federal case law is inapposite.   

  Although our 

Supreme Court’s recent decision in State v. Witherspoon did not 

involve a bank robbery, the court found sufficient evidence of 

immediate threat of harm where the defendant had one hand behind his 
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back and told the victim he had a pistol.  State v. Witherspoon, 180 

Wn.2d 875, 885, 329 P.3d 888, 893 (2014). 

In the light most favorable to the State, the evidence here shows 

only that after patiently waiting in line, Mr. Sass said, in a calm, quiet 

voice, “I need hundreds, fifties, and twenties in this order.”  E.g., 

3/23/15 RP 23, 41, 42, 56; Exhibit 4, clip 2.  The teller then asked Mr. 

Sass for his bank card and identification, to which he responded 

quietly, “No, ma’am, I came to rob you.”  3/23/15 RP 23-24, 41.  Mr. 

Sass did not have a weapon of any type.  He did not use a demand note.  

He did not make any threatening or suggestive gestures.  He did not act 

threateningly or menacingly.  3/23/15 RP 45, 57-58; 5/18/15 RP 10 (at 

sentencing, court notes Sass demonstrated no oral intimidation or 

aggressiveness); Exhibit 4, clips 2, 4.  The State did not show that Mr. 

Sass acted with specific intent to commit a first degree robbery. 

Although Ms. Ayouni testified she was “scared” that Mr. Sass 

was there to “rob” her, she did not say she was fearful of any 

immediate injury or use of force.  3/23/15 RP 39.  Mr. Sass had waited 

patiently in line for several minutes, and stood at the counter casually, 

in a manner indistinguishable from the three other customers at the 

teller counter.  Exhibit 4, clip 2 at 02:30-02:48.  Mr. Sass had the same 
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calm, casual demeanor when he responded to Mr. Flagg on his 

unremarkable way out of the bank.  3/23/15 RP 51-53, 57-58; Exhibit 

4, clip 2 at 02:53-03:12. 

At trial, the prosecutor argued Mr. Sass intimidated Ms. Ayouni 

with his clothing, by “demanding” money, and by saying, “I’m here to 

rob you.”  3/24/15 RP 19-21.  This argument demonstrates the 

insufficiency of the State’s evidence because intimidation is not 

adequate to satisfy Washington’s robbery offense.  United States v. 

Bingham, 628 F.2d 548, 549 (9th Cir. 1980); see Section 3, infra.  

Likewise, Mr. Sass’s use of the word “rob” without any attending 

physical or verbal behavior does not communicate the “intent to cause 

bodily injury, to damage property, or to physically confine or restrain 

another person.”  Farnsworth, 184 Wn. App. at 310 (citing RCW 

9A.04.110(28)(a)-(c)).  An individual’s use of the word “rob” does not 

necessarily, or even probably, connote our state’s particular definition 

of the offense.  Farnsworth, 184 Wn. App. at 310 n.5.  The common 

definition of “rob” infrequently includes the use of unlawful force or 

threat of injury.  Dictionary.com, http://dictionary.reference. com (last 

visited Feb. 8, 2016) (listing definitions, most of which do not include 

the use of force or threat of injury).  As this Court has noted, “It is a 
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colloquialism similar to people saying their house was robbed when 

they really meant it was burglarized.”  Farnsworth, 184 Wn. App. at 

310 n.5.  

This case is therefore more like Farnsworth than like 

Collinsworth or Shcherenkov.  The evidence is insufficient to show the 

element of use or threatened use of immediate force, fear or injury, 

where Mr. Sass asked for denominations in a calm, casual, quiet 

demeanor, said he was there to “rob” but then left of his own volition 

without making any threats, without gesturing, and without using force.  

c. Because the State failed to prove Mr. Sass used or threatened
to use immediate force, violence, or fear of injury, the
conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed with
prejudice.

The absence of proof of an element beyond a reasonable doubt 

requires dismissal of the conviction and charge.  E.g., Jackson, 443 

U.S. at 319; State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).  The 

Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment bars retrial of a case 

dismissed for insufficient evidence.  North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 

U.S. 711, 717, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969), reversed on 

other grounds by Alabama v. Smith, 490 U.S. 794, 109 S. Ct. 2201, 104 

L. Ed. 2d 865 (1989).  Because the State failed to prove Mr. Sass used 

or threatened to use immediate force, violence, or fear of injury, the 
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Court should reverse the conviction and dismiss the charge with 

prejudice. 

2. The conviction should be reversed because the trial
court erroneously denied Mr. Sass an instruction on
the lesser included offense of attempted first degree
theft.

Even if the Court finds sufficient evidence, Mr. Sass is entitled

to a new trial because the trial court erroneously denied him a requested 

instruction on attempted theft in the first degree, a lesser included 

offense of attempted first degree robbery.  3/24/15 RP 3-8; CP 280-82, 

286 (Sass’s requested lesser offense instructions). 

a. When requested by the defendant, a court must instruct the
jury on a lesser included offense supported by the evidence.

Generally, an accused may only be convicted of offenses 

contained in the indictment or information.  Schmuck v. United States, 

489 U.S. 705, 717-18, 109 S. Ct. 2091, 103 L. Ed. 734 (1989).  

Pursuant to statute, however, an accused “may be found guilty of an 

offense the commission of which is necessarily included within that 

with which he is charged in the indictment or information.”  RCW 

10.61.006.  The failure to instruct the jury on a lesser offense, where 

the evidence might allow the jury to convict the defendant of only the 
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lesser offense, violates the Fourteenth Amendment.  Beck v. Alabama, 

447 U.S. 625, 636-38, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 65 L. Ed. 2d 392 (1980). 

b. First degree theft is a lesser included offense of robbery in
the first degree.

Where requested, an accused is entitled to an instruction on a 

lesser-included offense where: (1) each element of the lesser offense 

must necessarily be proved to establish the greater offense as charged 

(legal prong); and (2) viewed in the light most favorable to the 

defendant, the evidence in the case supports an inference that the lesser 

offense was committed (factual prong).  State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 

541, 548, 947 P.2d 700 (1997) (overruling State v. Lucky, 128 Wn.2d 

727, 912 P.2d 483 (1996)); State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 

584 P.2d 382 (1978). 

In Berlin it was settled that the legal comparability of the lesser-

included offense must be tested against the crime as charged, not as set 

forth in the statute.  133 Wn.2d 541.  In adopting this test, the Court 

rejected the notion that a lesser included offense must take into account 

all the alternative means of satisfying the greater offense.  The Court 

first considered the history of the lesser-included offense doctrine as it 

existed at common law:

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