FILED
May 18, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73462-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BRYAN R. SASS,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A. FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. WHERE THE DEFENDANT DEMANDED MONEY AND TOLD THE VICTIM THAT HE WAS THERE TO ROB HER, THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT HIM OF ATTEMPTED ROBBERY.

The defendant claims that the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for attempted first degree robbery.

The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a criminal case, all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant.

<u>State v. Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (citation omitted).

The divisions of this court have disagreed on what facts are necessary to prove robbery. According to this Division, bank robbery can be proved by "an unequivocal demand for the immediate surrender of the bank's money, unsupported by even the pretext of any lawful entitlement to the funds." Such a demand "is fraught with the implicit threat to use force." State v. Collinsworth,

90 Wn. App. 546, 553, 966 P.2d 905 (1997), review denied, 135 Wn.2d 1002 (1998). In Collinsworth, the defendant told a bank teller, "Give me your hundreds, fifties, and twenties." Id. at 549. Although the defendant made no express threats, this Division held that there was sufficient evidence to convict the defendant of robbery. Id. at 553-54.

Division Two applied a more restrictive rule in <u>State v. Farnsworth</u>, 184 Wn. App. 305, 348 P.3d 759 (2014), <u>review granted</u>, 183 Wn.2d 1001 (2015) (agued 10/22/15). There, the defendant wrote a note that said, "No die packs, no tracking devices, put the money in the bag." An accomplice gave this note to a credit union teller and received \$300 in cash. In a 2-1 decision, Division Two held that there was insufficient evidence that the defendant planned to communicate a threat to use immediate force, violence, or fear of injury. <u>Id.</u> at 312 ¶ 17. The dissenting judge agreed with the analysis of <u>Collinsworth</u>. <u>Farnsworth</u>, 184 Wn. App. at 316 ¶ 35 (Worswick, J., dissenting).

Ultimately, the disagreement between <u>Farnsworth</u> and <u>Collinsworth</u> will need to be resolved by the Supreme Court. For purposes of the present case, however, it does not matter which

rule is followed. Even under Division Two's rule, the evidence in the present case is sufficient to establish an intent to commit robbery.

This is clear from Division Two's decision in <u>State v. Shcherenkov</u>, 146 Wn. App. 619, 191 P.3d 99 (2008), <u>review denied</u>, 165 Wn.2d 1037 (2009). There, the defendant was convicted of four counts of bank robbery. In one of the incidents, the defendant entered a branch of Wells Fargo Bank. He handed a teller a note that said, "Please be calm. This is a robbery." The defendant was "calm and did not do anything physical." <u>Id.</u> at 622 ¶ 3. Division Two nonetheless concluded that there was sufficient evidence to establish a robbery. The tellers reasonably interpreted the language in the note to be threatening "because robbery inherently involves a threat of immediate force." <u>Id.</u> at 628-29 ¶ 23.

The defendant describes <u>Shcherenkov</u> as a case where "the defendant had his hand in his pocket causing tellers to believe he had a gun." Brief of Appellant at 11. This was true of a different incident involving a robbery of Rainier Pacific Bank. <u>Shcherenkov</u>, 146 Wn. App. at 623 ¶ 6. During that incident, the defendant never referred to a "robbery," so the court looked to other facts to establish a threat of force. <u>Id.</u> at 629 ¶ 23. During the Wells Fargo incident, however, the defendant did not keep his hand in his

pocket. Although he reached into his pocket at one point, the teller believed that he was reaching for a cell phone or radio – not a gun. Id. at 622 ¶ 3. In upholding the defendant's conviction for that incident, Division Two did not rely on the defendant's reaching into his pocket. Rather, the court relied on the defendant saying "this is a robbery," which implied a threat of immediate force. Id. at 628-29 ¶ 23.

The defendant here also points to Division Two's discussion of the word "robbery" in Farnsworth. As mentioned above, the defendant there was convicted as an accomplice. He wrote the demand note, but he did not personally enter the financial institution. In discussing the plan with his accomplice, the defendant referred to "robbing a bank." Farnsworth, 184 Wn. App. at 308 ¶ 6. Division Two held that this reference was a "colloquialism similar to people saying their house was robbed when they really meant it was burglarized." Id. at 310 n. 5.

This discussion must be viewed in context. The defendant referred to "robbing" only in a discussion with his accomplice. He did not threaten the teller with "robbery." The court distinguished these facts from Shcherenkov, where the victim was threatened with "robbery." Farnsworth, 184 Wn. App. at 762 ¶ 15. Farnsworth

thus agrees that a threat of "robbery" communicates an intent to use immediate force.

The evidence in the present case is therefore sufficient regardless of which rule is applied. Under this Division's analysis, the defendant's unequivocal demand for money, unaccompanied by any pretext of lawful entitlement, constituted an implicit threat of force. Collinsworth, 90 Wn. App. at 553. Under Division Two's rule, the defendant's statement that he "came to rob you" constituted an implicit threat of force. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. at 628-29 ¶ 23. A jury could reasonably conclude that the defendant was guilty of first degree robbery.

- B. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED AN INSTRUCTION ON THE "LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE" OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE THEFT.
- 1. Since It Is Possible To Commit Attempted First Degree Robbery As Charged In This Case Without Committing Attempted First Degree Theft, The Attempted Theft Is Not A Lesser Included Offense.

In his other challenge to the conviction, the defendant claims that he was entitled to an instruction on the "lesser included offense" of attempted first degree theft. Such an instruction is proper only when two requirements are satisfied:

Under the first prong of the test (the legal prong), the court asks whether the lesser included offense consists solely of elements that are necessary to conviction of the greater, charged offense. Under the second (factual) prong, the court asks whether the evidence presented in the case supports an inference that *only* the lesser offense was committed, to the exclusion of the greater, charged offense.

State v. Condon, 182 Wn.2d 307, 316 ¶ 20, 343 P.3d 357 (2015) (court's emphasis; citation omitted). In the present case, the trial court concluded that neither prong was satisfied. 3/24 RP 6. The court was correct.

Under the legal prong, "if it is possible to commit the greater offense without committing the lesser offense, the lesser offense is not an included offense." State v. Stevens, 158 Wn.2d 304, 315, 143 P.3d 817 (2006). In carrying out this analysis, the court looks at the offense *charged* — not at alternative means that were uncharged. State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 548, 947 P.2d 700 (1997). Here, the defendant was charged with attempted first degree robbery under RCW 9A.56.200(1)(b), which covers robbery of a financial institution. 1 CP 309. "Robbery" is defined by statute as requiring that property be taken "from the person of another *or in his presence*." RCW 9A.56.190.

In contrast, first degree theft can be committed by taking (a) property exceeding \$5,000 in value, (b) property "taken from the person of another," (c) an on-duty search and rescue dog, or (d)

commercial metal property, when the damage to the owner's property exceeds \$5,000. RCW 9A.56.030(1). None of these alternatives are *necessary* for conviction of first degree robbery. Under the alternative involved in this case, the defendant could be convicted of the completed offense of first degree robbery for taking less than \$5,000 in cash *in the presence* of the victim, even if the property was not taken from the victim's *person*. Such an act would not constitute first degree theft. Similarly, the defendant could be convicted of *attempted* first degree robbery for *attempting* to take money from the presence of the victim, without being guilty of *attempted* first degree theft. Since it is *possible* to commit attempted first degree robbery as charged in this case without also committed attempted first degree theft, the latter crime is not an included offense.

This court reached the same conclusion in <u>State v. Roche</u>, 75 Wn. App. 500, 878 P.2d 497 (1994). Although the court's analysis did not anticipate later Supreme Court decisions, its ultimate conclusion was correct. The court analyzed robbery as having two "alternative means": taking property (1) "from the person of another" or (2) "in his presence." First degree theft is included within only one of these means. Consequently, the court

determined that first degree theft is not a lesser included offense of first degree robbery. <u>Id.</u> at 510-11.

As the defendant points out, <u>Roche</u> relied on the analysis of <u>State v. Curran</u>, 116 Wn.2d 174, 804 P.2d 558 (1991). Under <u>Curran</u>, the analysis looked at all possible means of committing the greater offense, not just the means that were charged. <u>Curran</u> was, however, overruled by <u>Berlin</u>, 133 Wn.2d at 548. To the extent that <u>Roche</u> looked beyond charged alternatives, its analysis is no longer valid.

Roche also failed to anticipate subsequent decisions dealing with "alternative means." This court has already questioned the conclusion that taking property "from the person" or "in his presence" constitute "alternative means." State v. Klimes, 117 Wn. App. 758, 769 n. 3, 73 P.3d 416 (2003). The Supreme Court later made it clear that statutory definitions do not create "alternative means." State v. Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 96 ¶ 9, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014). The statutory references to taking property "from the person of another" or "in his presence" both occur within the definition of "robbery" found in RCW 9A.56.190. These alternative definitions do not establish "alternative means" of committing first degree robbery.

These two analytical errors in Roche do not, however, alter the conclusion in the present case. The charge of attempted first degree robbery was based on only one alternative means: attempting to commit robbery of a financial institution. That crime can be committed by attempting to take money of any value in the presence of a bank's employees. Such a taking would not constitute first degree theft. It is therefore possible to commit attempted first degree robbery without committing attempted first degree theft. Phrasing the same conclusion a different way, the lesser offense does not consist solely of elements that are necessary to conviction of the greater offense. As a result, attempted first degree theft is not a lesser included offense of attempted first degree robbery. Condon, 182 Wn.2d at 316 ¶ 20; Stevens, 158 Wn.2d at 315. The trial court properly refused to instruct the jury on the lesser offense.

2. Alternatively, The Evidence Did Not Support An Instruction On The Lesser Offense, Since It Did Not Affirmatively Show That The Defendant Attempted To Take Property From The Person Of The Victim.

Even if attempted first degree theft passes the "legal prong," it does not pass the "factual prong" under the circumstances of this

case. An instruction on the lesser offense was therefore unwarranted.

As already mentioned, the issue under the "factual prong" is whether the evidence supports an inference that *only* the lesser offense was committed. Condon, 182 Wn.2d at 316 ¶ 20. The evidence must affirmatively establish the lesser offense. It is not enough that the jury might disbelieve the evidence pointing to guilt. In making this determination, the court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the party that requested the instruction. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

Applying the rule in the present case, there would have to be affirmative evidence that the defendant attempted to take property from the person of the teller. There was no such evidence. The defendant demanded "hundreds, fifties, and twenties." 3/23 RP 23. This money was in the teller's cash drawer, not on her person. 3/23 RP 24-25. There was no evidence that the defendant believed that the teller carried such large bills on her person. The defendant intended to take the money in her presence, which would be sufficient to constitute robbery. There is no affirmative evidence that he intended to take it from her person, which would be necessary to

constitute first degree theft. Since the "factual prong" is not satisfied, the trial court properly refused the instruction on the lesser offense of attempted first degree theft.

C. THE STATE CONCEDES THAT IT FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE DEFENDANT'S TWO CONVICTIONS FOR FEDERAL BANK ROBBERY ARE FACTUALLY COMPARABLE TO SECOND DEGREE ROBBERY.

The final issue relates only to sentencing. The trial court counted two federal bank robbery convictions as equivalent to second degree robbery, yielding an offender score of 12. The defendant claims that these convictions should not be counted.

The federal crime of bank robbery is defined by 18 U.S.C. § 2113(a):

Whoever, by force and violence, or by intimidation, takes or attempts to take, from the person or presence of another, or obtains or attempts to obtain by extortion any property or money or any other thing of value belonging to, or in the care, custody, control, management, or possession of, any bank, credit union, or any savings and loan association

Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both.

The defendant here pleaded guilty to taking money from two different banks by force, threat, or intimidation. In his plea statement, he admitted that he used a demand note and took money that did not belong to him. 1 CP 217-25.

The Supreme Court examined this statute in In re Lavery, 154 Wn.2d 249,111 P.3d 837 (2005). The court concluded that the federal crime is not comparable to the Washington crime of robbery. This is because the federal crime requires only "general intent," while the Washington crime requires "specific intent to steal." Id. at 255 ¶ 12.

In the trial court, the State acknowledged this lack of legal comparability. The State nonetheless contended that the two crimes are factually comparable. In determining factual comparability, the court may consider only facts that were admitted, stipulated to, or proved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Olsen, 180 Wn.2d 468, 473-74 ¶ 9, 325 P.3d 187, cert. denied, 135 S.Ct. 287 (2014). Here, it does not appear that the defendant admitted or stipulated that he acted with intent to steal. Consequently, the State concedes that the two federal convictions were improperly scored as equivalent to Washington robberies.

The defendant contends that the federal convictions should not be counted for a second reason: the federal element of "intimidation" is purportedly broader than the Washington element

of "threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury." Although it makes no difference in this case, the court should reject this argument. Federal cases have defined taking by "intimidation" as meaning "wilfully to take by putting in fear of bodily harm." United States v. Alsop, 479 F.2d 65, 66-67 (9th Cir. 1973). The defendant suggests that under the federal statute, the fear need not be "immediate." If a person attempts to take property by threat of future bodily injury, that conduct would constitute first degree extortion. RCW 9A.56.120, RCW 9A.04.110(28)(a); see RCW 9A.56.110 (defining "extortion"). For scoring purposes, there is no difference between first degree extortion and second degree robbery -- both are classified as violent offenses.2 RCW 9.94A.030(55)(a)(x), (xi). Moreover, since 18 U.S.C. § 2113(a) refers separately to "extortion," it is doubtful whether "intimidation" is properly construed as extending to future threats.

At sentencing, both parties assumed that if the federal convictions were not considered equivalent to robberies, the defendant would have an offender score of 8. This assumption was incorrect. If a federal conviction has no clearly comparable offense

² Although irrelevant to this case, both are also "strike" offenses. RCW 9.94A.030(33)(f), (o).

under Washington law, it is scored as a class C felony conviction. RCW 9.94A.525(c). Counting the federal convictions in this manner would reduce the offender score from 12 to 10 – which has the same sentencing range. Nonetheless, the sentencing court might have imposed a lower sentence within the range if it had been aware of the lower offender score. The State therefore agrees that the appropriate remedy is remand for re-sentencing.

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